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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE DISTRICT OF NORTH DAKOTA 

NORTHWESTERN DIVISION 
 

   
 
David Houle, Becky Houle, Vernella 
Jeanotte, Howard Longie, Sr., and 
Duane Longie individually, and on 
behalf of all other persons similarly 
situated, 
 
   Plaintiffs, 
 
-vs- 
 
Central Power Electric Cooperative, 
Inc., a North Dakota Electric 
Cooperative Corporation;  
 
   Defendant. 
 

 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

 
 
 
 
 

Civil File No. 4:09-cv-00021 
 
 

DEFENDANT CENTRAL POWER 
ELECTRIC COOPERATIVE, INC.’S 
MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF  

MOTION TO DISMISS  
 

 
 

INTRODUCTION 
 

 Defendant Central Power Electric Cooperative, Inc. (“CPEC”) moves this Court to 

dismiss Plaintiffs’ Complaint for failure to join an indispensable party under Fed. R. Civ. 

P. 19.  The claims in Plaintiffs’ Complaint rely completely on allegations that the 

permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the United States Department of the 

Interior, Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”) were illegal and seek relief that is adverse to the 

interests of the United States.  For these reasons, and because the United States has 

not waived its sovereign immunity and thus cannot be joined to Plaintiffs’ action, the 

Complaint must be dismissed. 

 CPEC also seeks a dismissal of Plaintiff David Houle’s and Plaintiff Becky 

Houle’s (“the Houles”) individual claims as those claims are barred under the theories of 
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res judicata, collateral estoppel, accord and satisfaction because the Houles have 

already litigated the same issues in the Turtle Mountain Tribal Court and have accepted 

payment from CPEC.   For these reasons, the Houles’ Complaint must be dismissed. 

FACTS 
 

 Plaintiffs David Houle, Becky Houle, Vernella Jeanotte, Howard Longie, Sr., and 

Duane Longie are allegedly all enrolled members of the Turtle Mountain Band of 

Chippewa Indians, a federally recognized American Indian Tribe (the “Tribe”).  (Am. 

Compl., Doc. No. 51, ¶ 3.)  Plaintiffs’ Complaint names CPEC as primary defendant.  

(Id. ¶¶ 6, 74-75.)  The Complaint alleges that Ulteig, Pringle & Herigstad, P.C. 

(“Pringle”), Debra L. Hoffarth (“Hoffarth”), Aberdeen Appraisal, LLP (“Aberdeen 

Appraisal”), Bruce J. Frink, and Joel D. Frink acted as agents of CPEC (together with 

CPEC referred to as “Defendants”) in carrying out alleged “discriminatory practice(s)” 

listed in the Complaint.  (Id. ¶¶ 74-75.)  The parties have stipulated and the Court has 

dismissed all other Defendants, except CPEC. (Doc. No. 77.) 

 Plaintiffs claim to be the “beneficial interest owners of Indian Allotments,” i.e. 

“lands held in trust for their benefit by the United States of America,” within the Turtle 

Mountain Indian Reservation (the “Reservation”).  (Am. Compl., Doc. No. 51, ¶ 4.)  

Plaintiffs allege that CPEC “[a]t all times relevant herein . . . was engaged in a process 

to acquire necessary right of way for the construction and maintenance of a high voltage 

electric transmission line” on the Reservation.  (Id. ¶ 6.)  Plaintiffs allege that CPEC’s 

purpose was “to provide electric service in and around the area of the [Reservation].”  

(Id. ¶ 14.)  Plaintiffs allege that CPEC obtained from the BIA a utility occupancy permit 

for the construction of a high voltage electric transmission line upon certain Reservation 
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lands.  (See id. ¶ 35, Prayer for Relief, p. 46, ¶ b.)  Plaintiffs allege that these permits 

and rights-of-way were not granted legally by the BIA because of various alleged 

defects, such as a lack of required landowner consents.  (See, e.g., id. ¶¶ 22-23, 57-

59.)  Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the right-of-way easement granted by the BIA was 

“obtained unlawfully and [is] in all things null and void.”  (Id. at Prayer for Relief, p. 46-

47, ¶ b.) 

 The permission to survey referred to by Plaintiffs (see, e.g., Am. Compl., Doc. 

No. 51, ¶¶ 23, 57) within the Complaint was granted to CPEC by the BIA. (Doc. No. 81-

5.)1  It states the following:  

“The undersigned owner of said land hereby consents to the granting of 
permission to survey only.  (It is understood that when the right-of-way 
location is definitely established that the applicant will submit formal 
application for a right-of-way in accordance with current laws and 
regulations.)  This consent has been negotiated on the following terms 
and conditions:  NO MONETARY CONSIDERATION, SURVEY ONLY.” 
 

(Doc. No. 81-5)  The utility occupancy permits referred to by Plaintiffs within the 

Complaint (see, e.g., Am. Compl. Doc. No. 51, ¶ 35), dated March 30, 2007 and as 

amended August 17, 2007, were granted to CPEC by the BIA.2  (Doc. No. 81-3.)  These 

permits state that CPEC is permitted to permanently occupy rights-of-way along BIA 

Route Nos. 5, 10, and 21 for the purpose of an overhead transmission line.  (Doc. No. 

81-3.)  The right-of-way easement referred to by Plaintiffs within the Complaint (see, 

                                                 
1
 This document is incorporated by reference into Plaintiffs’ Complaint and is therefore appropriate for the 
Court’s consideration in this motion, as it would be in a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  See 
Tellabs, Inc. v. Makor Issues & Rights, Ltd., 551 U.S. 308, 322 (2007)  (“[C]ourts must consider the 
complaint in its entirety, as well as other sources courts ordinarily examine when ruling on Rule 12(b)(6) 
motions to dismiss, in particular, documents incorporated into the complaint by reference, and matters of 
which a court may take judicial notice.” (citations omitted). 
2
 See supra note 1. 
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e.g., id. ¶ 5, 46 ¶ b), dated May 29, 2009, was granted to CPEC by the BIA and is 

attached hereto as Exhibit 1.3  It states the following: 

The United States of America, acting by and through the [BIA] . . . and 
pursuant to . . . Title 25, Code of Federal Regulations . . . does hereby 
grant to the Applicant [CPEC] . . . [an] easement for right-of-way. . . . The 
grant of this right-of-way shall include the right of ingress and egress at all 
times for the purpose of construction of the transmission line on adjoining 
BIA or North Dakota DOT right-of-way; and the right to cut down, top, trim, 
control the growth by chemical means, or in any manner eliminate trees or 
shrubbery within the right-of-way area which might interfere with or 
endanger the said transmission line. . . . 
 

(See Ex. 1.)  On December 18, 2007 and May 15, 2008, the Tribal Council of the Turtle 

Mountain Band of Chippewa Indians passed resolutions Turtle Mountain Band of 

Chippewa Indians Res. No. TMBC 0487-12-07 (Dec. 18, 2007), attached hereto as 

Exhibit 2; Id. No. TMBC0598-04-08 (May 15, 2008), attached hereto as Exhibit 3; Id. 

No. TMBC0597-04-08 (May 15, 2008), attached hereto as Exhibit 4; approving the 

permissions to survey and right-of-way grants for CPEC’s transmission project.4  (See 

Exhibits 2, 3, 4.)  These resolutions were within the powers of the Tribal Council.  Turtle 

Mountain Constitution, Art. 9 § 10. (“The Tribal Council shall exercise the following 

powers, subject to any limitations imposed by this Constitution and Bylaws or the laws 

and regulations of the Federal Government . . . . To manage, lease, permit or otherwise 

deal with Tribal Land, interest in lands and other lands or assets under tribal jurisdiction; 

. . . or dispose of such land, or interest in lands, as authorized by laws.”) 

                                                 
3
 See supra note 1. 

4
 These documents are matters of public record and are therefore appropriate for the Court’s 
consideration in this motion, as they would be in a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6).  See Porous 
Media Corp. v. Pall Corp., 186 F.3d 1077, 1079 (8th Cir. 1999) (stating that a “court may consider 
‘matters of public record, orders . . .” in a motion under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) (citing 5A Wright & Miller § 
1357 (2d ed. 1990))). 
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 Plaintiffs do not claim that Defendants acted outside the scope of the permits and 

easements granted to CPEC by the BIA.  (See generally Am. Compl., Doc. No. 51.)  

Rather, Plaintiffs allege that the permits and easements granted by the BIA were illegal.  

(See, e.g., Am. Compl., Doc. 51, ¶¶ 22-23, 57-58; see also, Am. Compl., Prayer for 

Relief, p. 46, ¶ b.) 

 Prior to this action, Plaintiffs Houle brought an action against CPEC in the Turtle 

Mountain Tribal Court. (See Doc. No. 81-6.)  In that action, Plaintiffs complained that 

CPEC did not have the authority to utilize the BIA Road Right-of-Way.  (Id.)  The Turtle 

Mountain Tribal Court determined that CPEC could proceed with the project and pay 

Plaintiffs Houle compensation for the placement of the transmission line.  (Doc. No. 81-

7.)   

 Vernella Jeanotte has brought an action in the Turtle Mountain Tribal Court, in 

addition to this action, asking the Turtle Mountain Tribal Court to eject CPEC from her 

property.  (Doc. No. 69-2)  On June 16, 2009, Howard Longie and Duane Longie, Jr. 

(Allotment 2280-H) were paid, through the BIA, and an easement was issued for the 

property by the BIA.  (See Exhibit 1.)   
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ARGUMENT 
 

I. THE ACTION SHOULD BE DISMISSED FOR  
FAILURE TO JOIN AN INDISPENSABLE PARTY  
UNDER FED. R. CIV. P. 19. 

 
A. Plaintiffs’ claims rely completely on allegations that the BIA 

permissions and easements granted to CPEC were illegal. 

 Plaintiffs’ Complaint raises nine counts, all of which rely completely on 

allegations that the BIA permissions and easements granted to CPEC were illegal.5  

These counts allege in various manners that CPEC illegally deprived Plaintiffs of 

possession of their real property.  However, the permissions and easements granted by 

the BIA authorized CPEC to perform all of the activities identified in the Complaint with 

respect to the subject property and Plaintiffs have not alleged otherwise.  (See generally 

Am. Compl., Doc. No. 51)  As such, Plaintiffs’ claims rely completely on allegations that 

the permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the BIA were illegal. 

 In Count I, Plaintiffs allege that Defendants engaged in unlawful discrimination in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1981.  (Am. Compl., Doc. No. 51, ¶ 78.)  A violation of § 1981 

requires impairment of a person’s rights “to make and enforce contracts, to sue, be 

parties, give evidence, and to the full and equal benefit of all laws and proceedings for 

the security of persons and property as is enjoyed by white citizens.”  42 U.S.C. § 1981 

(2006).  Plaintiffs’ claims under § 1981 all center on allegations that CPEC deprived 

Plaintiffs of their property rights by an illegal taking of their property and thus rely 

completely on allegations that the permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the 

BIA were illegal.  (See Am. Compl., Doc. No. 51, ¶¶ 77, 79-82.) 

                                                 
5
 Houle has moved for a second amended complaint (Doc. No. 59, 61) which eliminates many of these 
claims. Since the second amended complaint has not yet been approved, the merits of the current claims 
are discussed herein.  
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 In Count II, Plaintiffs allege that CPEC engaged in unlawful discrimination in 

violation of 42 U.S.C. § 2000d.  (Am. Compl., Doc. No. 51, ¶¶ 86-87.)  A violation of 

§ 2000d requires that a person “be excluded from participation in, be denied the 

benefits of, or be subjected to discrimination under [a] program or activity receiving 

Federal financial assistance” based upon race, color, or national origin.  42 U.S.C. 

§ 2000d.  Essentially, Plaintiffs merely quote the language of the statute in an entirely 

conclusory manner in Count II—without alleging any facts whatsoever.  To the extent 

that Plaintiffs plead any facts, they suggest that CPEC illegally took Plaintiffs’ property, 

in a discriminatory manner.  (See Am. Compl., Doc. 51, ¶ 88.)  As such, Plaintiffs’ 

claims under § 2000d rely completely on allegations that the permissions and 

easements granted to CPEC by the BIA were illegal. 

 In Count III, Plaintiffs allege that CPEC “deprived Plaintiffs of the rights, 

privileges, and immunities secured by the United States Constitution and by federal 

statue [sic] in violation of 42 U.S.C. § 1983.”  (Am. Compl., Doc. No. 51, ¶ 90.)  Plaintiffs 

allege that the process by which CPEC claimed and exercised their rights with respect 

to the subject property constituted seizure of Plaintiffs’ real property without due process 

of law.  (See id. ¶¶ 91-95.)  As such, Plaintiffs’ claims under § 1983 rely completely on 

allegations that the permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the BIA were 

illegal. 

 In Count IV, Plaintiffs assert that CPEC engaged in mail fraud in violation of 18 

U.S.C. §§ 1346 and 1349.  (Id. ¶ 99.)  Assuming, for the sake of argument, that a 
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private right of action even exists under these federal criminal statutes,6 Plaintiffs’ 

alleged damages are based on the denial of the present use, enjoyment, and optimal 

development of their real estate holdings.  (See id. ¶ 100.)  However, since CPEC’s 

possession and use of the subject property was expressly authorized in the permissions 

and easements legally granted by the BIA, Plaintiffs have no damages of which to 

complain with respect to CPEC unless the BIA issued the permissions and easements 

illegally.  As such, Plaintiffs’ claims under § 1341 rely completely on allegations that the 

permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the BIA were illegal. 

 In Count V, Plaintiffs assert that CPEC engaged in conspiracies to commit theft 

and conversion of property.  (Id. ¶¶ 102-105.)  The predicate offense of theft requires 

taking or exercising unauthorized control of the property of another, or deprivation of the 

property of another by deceit or threat as opposed to lawful means.  See N.D. Cent. 

Code § 12.1-23-02 (2007).  The predicate tort of conversion requires wrongful exercise 

of dominion or control over the property of another.  See Van Sickle v. Hallmark, 2008 

ND 12, ¶ 21, 744 N.W.2d 532 (citation omitted).  However, since CPEC merely 

exercised dominion and control over the subject property as authorized by the 

permissions and easements granted by the BIA, the allegations of theft and conversion 

are baseless unless the BIA issued the permissions and easements illegally.  As such, 

Plaintiffs’ civil conspiracy claims rely completely on allegations that the permissions and 

easements granted to CPEC by the BIA were illegal. 

 In Count VI, Plaintiffs allege that CPEC forcibly excluded Plaintiffs from their real 

property in violation of N.D. Cent. Code § 32-03-29 and caused willful injury to the 

                                                 
6
 CPEC reserves the right to challenge this assumption and to supply other arguments in support of a 
motion to dismiss all of Plaintiffs’ counts for failure to state claims upon which relief can be granted under 
Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). 

Case 4:09-cv-00021-DLH -CSM   Document 83    Filed 11/16/09   Page 8 of 29



 9 

timber, trees and under wood upon the subject property in violation of N.D. Cent. Code 

§ 32-03-30.  (Am. Compl. ¶¶ 109, 111.)  The Houles had granted CPEC permission to 

cut timber.  (Doc. No. 81-4.)  Since there was permission to cut tree, no violation 

occurred. 

In Count VII, Plaintiffs allege that CPEC “did unlawfully . . . enter upon the real 

property of the Plaintiffs” in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1036.7  (Id. ¶114-15.)  CPEC’s 

surveys, transmission poles and wires, and vegetation management on the subject 

lands have all been within the scope of the permissions and easements granted to 

CPEC by the BIA, and Plaintiffs have not alleged otherwise.  (See generally Am. 

Compl.) As such, Plaintiffs’ claims for forcible exclusion under N.D. Cent. Code § 32-03-

29, wrongful injury to timber under N.D. Cent. Code § 32-03-30, and unlawful entry 

upon real estate under 18 U.S.C. § 1036 rely completely on allegations that the 

permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the BIA were illegal. 

 In the first count labeled Count VIII, Plaintiffs allege that CPEC violated the 

federal Racketeer Influenced and Corrupt Organizations (“RICO”) statute, 18 U.S.C. 

§ 1962, through a pattern of racketeering activity including “Mail Fraud, Robbery, 

obstruction of justice, and theft of property.”  (Am. Compl. ¶ 121.)  In the second count 

labeled Count VIII, Plaintiffs allege that CPEC violated the state RICO statute, N.D. 

Cent. Code § 12.1-06.1-05, through a pattern of racketeering activity including theft and 

fraud.  (Id. ¶ 126.)  The underlying racketeering activities alleged by Plaintiffs rely on 

allegations that the permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the BIA were 

                                                 
7
 CPEC reserves the right to challenge the assumption that a private right of action even exists under this 
federal criminal statute and to supply other arguments in support of a motion to dismiss all of Plaintiffs’ 
counts for failure to state claims upon which relief can be granted under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). 
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illegal.  In addition, all of Plaintiffs’ alleged damages under the RICO statutes are based 

on the denial of the present use, enjoyment, and optimal development of their real 

estate holdings.  (See id. ¶¶ 122, 127.)  However, since CPEC’s possession and use of 

the subject property was authorized by the permissions and easements granted by the 

BIA, Plaintiffs have no damages of which to complain with respect to CPEC unless the 

BIA issued the permissions and easements illegally.  As such, Plaintiffs’ federal and 

state RICO claims rely completely on allegations that the permissions and easements 

granted to CPEC by the BIA were illegal. 

 In Count IX, Plaintiffs allege CPEC made false statements to the federal 

government in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001.8  Plaintiffs essentially challenge the basis 

upon which the BIA determined compliance with its own regulations and granted 

permissions and easements to CPEC with respect to the subject property.  (See id., 

¶ 130.)  In addition, all of Plaintiffs’ alleged damages under § 1001 are based on the 

denial of the present use, enjoyment, and optimal development of their real estate 

holdings.  (See id. ¶¶ 134.)  However, since CPEC’s possession and use of the subject 

property was authorized by the permissions and easements granted by the BIA, 

Plaintiffs have no damages of which to complain with respect to CPEC unless the BIA 

issued the permissions and easements illegally.  As such, Plaintiffs’ § 1001 claims rely 

completely on allegations that the permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the 

BIA were illegal. 

B. The United States is a necessary party under Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(a). 

 Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(a)(1),  

                                                 
8
 CPEC reserves the right to challenge the assumption that a private right of action even exists under this 
federal criminal statute and to supply other arguments in support of a motion to dismiss all of Plaintiffs’ 
counts for failure to state claims upon which relief can be granted under Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6). 
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A person who is subject to service of process and whose 
joinder will not deprive the court of subject-matter jurisdiction 
must be joined as a party if: 

(A) in that person's absence, the court cannot accord 
complete relief among existing parties; or 

(B) that person claims an interest relating to the 
subject of the action and is so situated that disposing 
of the action in the person's absence may: 

(i) as a practical matter impair or impede the 
person's ability to protect the interest; or 

(ii) leave an existing party subject to a 
substantial risk of incurring double, multiple, or 
otherwise inconsistent obligations because of 
the interest. 

 The United States is a necessary party under Rule 19(a)(1)(A) because the Court 

will not be able to accord complete relief among the existing parties in the United States’ 

absence.  Plaintiffs seek a declaration that the right-of-way easement obtained by 

CPEC was “obtained unlawfully and [is] in all things null and void from its inception.” 

(Am. Compl. Prayer for Relief, p. 46-47 ¶ b.)  However, this Court cannot void the 

United States’ conveyance of the subject right-of-way to CPEC unless the United States 

is present because “[i]t is a fundamental principle of the law that an instrument may not 

be cancelled by a Court unless the parties to the instrument are before the Court.”  See 

Navajo Tribe of Indians v. New Mexico, 809 F.2d 1455, 1472 (10th Cir. 1987) (quoting 

Tewa Tesuque v. Morton, 360 F. Supp. 452 (D.N.M. 1973)).  “Moreover, ‘as a matter of 

federal law, it is well established that the validity of a deed or patent from the federal 

government may not be questioned in a suit brought by a third party against the grantee 

or patentee.’”  Id. (quoting Raypath, Inc. v. City of Anchorage, 544 F.2d 1019, 1021 (9th 

Cir. 1977)).  As such, the United States is clearly a necessary party under Rule 19(a). 
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 In addition, the United States is a necessary party under Rule 19(a)(1)(B) 

because it has substantial interests relating to the subject of the action and its ability to 

protect those interests would be impaired or impeded by allowing the action to proceed 

in its absence.  The United States, in its capacity as owner and trustee over Indian 

lands, has retained the power to grant rights of way across Indian lands for uses such 

as CPEC’s electric transmission line project: 

The Secretary of the Interior . . . is empowered to grant rights-of-way for 
all purposes, subject to such conditions as he may prescribe, over and 
across any lands now or hereafter held in trust by the United States for 
individual Indians or Indian tribes . . . or any lands now or hereafter 
owned, subject to restrictions against alienation, by individual Indians or 
Indian tribes . . . and any other lands heretofore or hereafter acquired or 
set aside for the use and benefit of the Indians. 

 
25 U.S.C. § 323 (2006); see generally id. §§ 323-28; 25 C.F.R. pt. 169 (2007).  

Plaintiffs’ action effectively seeks to abridge or negate that power as the United States 

has chosen to exercise it, in a forum in which the United States is not present to defend 

its right and decision to do so.  The United States has an interest in preserving the 

validity and integrity of its right-of-way grants to third parties and of its agency 

determinations in general.  The United States also has an interest in preserving the 

benefits provided by CPEC’s transmission line project to the Tribe, tribal members, and 

the general public.    

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 19(a) requires that the United States be joined to 

Plaintiffs’ action because the United States has strong interests that would be impaired 

by a judgment issued in its absence.  These interests include upholding the validity of its 

agency’s decisions in general and the exercise of power it has expressly retained over 

Indian lands in particular and preserving the benefits provided by Defendants’ project to 
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the Tribe, tribal members, and the general public.  Therefore, the United States is a 

necessary party who must be joined by Plaintiffs under Rule 19(a). 

C. The United States possesses sovereign immunity and thus cannot 
be joined to Plaintiffs’ action. 

 Although the United States is a necessary party under Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(a), it 

cannot be joined as a defendant in the action because it possesses sovereign immunity.  

It is well-established that “[t]he United States, as sovereign, is immune from suit save as 

it consents to be sued . . . and the terms of its consent to be sued in any court define 

that court's jurisdiction to entertain the suit.” United States v. Sherwood, 312 U.S. 584, 

586 (1941) (citations omitted).  Further, waiver of sovereign immunity by the United 

States may be found “only when Congress unequivocally expresses its intention to 

waive the government’s sovereign immunity in the statutory text.”  Gov. of Kan. v. 

Kempthorne, 516 F.3d 833, 841 (10th Cir. 2008) (quoting United States v. Murdock 

Mach. & Eng'g Co., 81 F.3d 922, 930 (10th Cir.1996)); see also United States v. Nordic 

Village, Inc., 503 U.S. 30, 37 (1992) (“[T]he ‘unequivocal expression’ of elimination of 

sovereign immunity that we insist upon is an expression in statutory text.”).  “Any doubts 

as to consent or jurisdiction of the court should be resolved in favor of the United 

States.”  Ginsberg v. United States, 707 F.2d 91, 92-93 (4th Cir. 1983) (quoting 

Shinaberry v. United States, 142 F. Supp. 413, 414 (W.D. Mich. 1956)).   

 In cases involving a dispute over title to real property in which the United States 

claims an interest, the Quiet Title Act of 1972, 28 U.S.C. § 2409a (the “QTA”) has been 

construed by the Supreme Court as the exclusive means by which one can challenge 

title to the property and a waiver of the United States’ sovereign immunity may be 
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found.9  See Kempthorne, 516 F.3d at 841 & n.4 (citing United States v. Mottaz, 476 

U.S. 834 (1986)).  The QTA provides:   

The United States may be named as a party defendant in a civil action 
under this section to adjudicate a disputed title to real property in which 
the United States claims an interest, other than a security interest or water 
rights. This section does not apply to trust or restricted Indian lands . 
. . .   
 

28 U.S.C. § 2409a (emphasis added).  Thus, the QTA does not waive the United States’ 

sovereign immunity here.  To the contrary, it expressly excludes disputes concerning 

“trust or restricted Indian lands” from its waiver.  Therefore, since (1) the QTA is the 

exclusive means by which the United States’ sovereign immunity may be waived and 

(2) the QTA’s Indian lands exclusion operates as a bar to such waiver in the instant 

case, the United States enjoys sovereign immunity with respect to Plaintiffs’ action and 

cannot be joined as a defendant. 

D. The United States is an indispensable party under Fed. R. Civ. P. 
19(b), in whose absence Plaintiffs’ action must be dismissed. 

 Under Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(b), if a necessary party cannot be joined, the court must 

determine “whether, in equity and good conscience, the action should proceed among 

the existing parties or should be dismissed.”  Rule 19(b) lists the following factors for the 

court to consider in  determining whether the absent party is indispensable: 

(1) the extent to which a judgment rendered in the person's 
absence might prejudice that person or the existing parties; 

(2) the extent to which any prejudice could be lessened or 
avoided by: 

(A) protective provisions in the judgment; 

                                                 
9
 The QTA applies not just to adjudications over fee title but also to disputes concerning lesser interests, 
such as the rights-of-way at issue here, which can also cloud title to real property.  See United States v. 
Bedford Assocs., 657 F.2d 1300, 1316 (2d Cir. 1981). 
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(B) shaping the relief; or 

(C) other measures; 

(3) whether a judgment rendered in the person's absence 
would be adequate; and 

(4) whether the plaintiff would have an adequate remedy if 
the action were dismissed for nonjoinder. 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(b). 

 In Provident Tradesmens Bank & Trust Co. v. Patterson, 390 U.S. 102, 109-11 

(U.S. 1968), the Supreme Court framed the Rule 19(b) factors as a balancing test of 

four different interests, namely: 

(1) the plaintiff’s interest in having a forum; 

(2) the defendant’s interest in avoiding multiple litigation, or inconsistent relief, or 
sole responsibility for a liability he shares with another; 

(3) the interest of the absent party whom it would have been desirable to join; 
and 

 
(4) the interest of the courts and the public in the complete, consistent, and 

efficient settlement of controversies. 

1. The United States has strong adverse interests to Plaintiffs in 
upholding the legality of the actions taken by the BIA. 

 The United States’ interest is generally the dispositive factor in determining 

whether the United States is an indispensable party in an action regarding a dispute 

over Indian lands.  The two most determinative factors concerning evaluation of the 

United States’ interest in such cases are:  (1) whether plaintiffs allege illegal action by 

the United States; and (2) if plaintiffs are Indian, whether the United States’ interests are 

aligned with those of the plaintiffs.  In addition, the United States has a fundamental 

legal right to not have an instrument it has executed cancelled in a proceeding from 

Case 4:09-cv-00021-DLH -CSM   Document 83    Filed 11/16/09   Page 15 of 29



 16 

which it is absent.  These considerations all require that the United States be found an 

indispensable party such that Plaintiffs’ action must be dismissed. 

i. Plaintiffs’ claims assert illegal activity by the BIA. 

 In cases involving disputes over Indian lands in which plaintiffs have based their 

claims on allegations of illegality by the United States, courts have uniformly found the 

United States to be an indispensable party.  See, e.g., Nichols v. Rysavy, 809 F.2d 

1317, 1332-34 (8th Cir. 1987); Navajo Tribe v. New Mexico, 809 F.2d 1455, 1471-72 

(10th Cir. 1987); Paiute-Shoshone Indians v. City of Los Angeles, No. 1:06-cv-00736, 

2007 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10590, at *67-68 (E.D. Cal. Feb. 15, 2007).  The Indian plaintiffs 

in Nichols claimed that the United States had illegally issued fee patents to their 

forbears and thereby sought to void all later transfers so that the subject property would 

return to being held in trust for them by the United States.  Nichols, 809 F.2d at 1320.  

The court found the United States to be an indispensable party, its primary reason being 

the dependence of plaintiffs’ claims on allegations that the United States acted illegally 

in granting the subject fee patents.  Id. at 1332-33.  “[T]he result of this suit, on the 

merits, would depend entirely on whether the United States acted legally or illegally in 

granting fee patents under the blood quantum policy.  If the United States issued the 

patents legally, then appellants’ action is groundless.  ‘In short the government's 

liability cannot be tried ‘behind its back.’’” Id. at 1333 (emphasis added) (quoting 

Mine Safety Appliances Co. v. Forrestal, 326 U.S. 371, 375 (1945)). 

 In Paiute-Shoshone Indians, the plaintiff tribe sued to eject the City of Los 

Angeles from former tribal lands that had been transferred to the city by agents of the 

United States, alleging that various conditions imposed by Congress on the transfer had 

not been satisfied.  Paiute-Shoshone Indians, 2007 WL 521403 *1-6.  In finding the 
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United States to be indispensable, the court relied heavily on the distinction in Red Lake 

Band of Chippewas v. City of Baudette between “cases in which ‘the central issue is the 

legality of the United States’ actions in facilitating the alienation of Indian land’ and 

those cases in which the United States is not implicated in unlawful acts.”  Id. at *20 

(quoting Red Lake Band of Chippewas v. City of Baudette, 730 F. Supp. 972 (D. Minn. 

1998)).  “Here, in contrast, the Tribe is alleging that officers of the United States 

committed various wrongs, including failure to comply with the requirement that 

the Department of Interior obtain consent of the majority of adult members of the 

Tribe . . . .”  Id. at *21 (emphasis added).  “[A]s the City points out, ‘the complaint is rife 

with allegations that federal officers failed to perform their duties under the 1937 Act . . . 

. In the final analysis, it cannot be ignored that the Tribe's claims are grounded in 

large part upon allegations of wrongdoing by agents of the federal government.”  

Id. at *67 (emphasis added). 

 Finally, in Navajo Tribe, the plaintiff tribe claimed that an Executive Order that 

restored unallotted Indian lands to the public domain was null and void because the 

statutory requirement that all reservation Indians first be granted allotments had not 

been satisfied.  Navajo Tribe v. New Mexico, 809 F.2d at 1457.  The court found the 

United States to be an indispensable party, noting that “[t]he Tribe's claims . . . are, in 

reality, challenges to the validity of the transactions by which the United States 

assumed title to the subject land.”  Navajo Tribe, 809 F.2d at 1471 (emphasis 

added). 

 As described in section A, supra, Plaintiffs’ fundamental claim is precisely that 

the permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the BIA were illegal in that the BIA 
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issued them despite various procedural defects, such as a lack of required consents.  

(See, e.g., Compl. ¶¶ 21-26).  However, to paraphrase the court in Nichols, “[i]f the 

United States issued the [easements] legally, then [Plaintiffs’] action is groundless,” 

because Defendants would have had every right to perform the activities listed in the 

Complaint under the authority of the easements.  See Nichols, 809 F.2d at 1333.  As 

such, Plaintiffs’ action attempts to try the legality of the United States’ actions 

“behind its back” and in derogation of the United States’ interests in upholding the 

validity of its agency’s decisions and the exercise of power it has expressly retained 

over Indian lands in 25 U.S.C. § 323-28 and 25 C.F.R. pt. 169 and in preserving the 

benefits provided by Defendants’ project to the Tribe, tribal members, and the general 

public.  Therefore, as in Nichols, Navajo Tribe, and Paiute-Shoshone, the United States 

is an indispensable party under Rule 19(b), in whose absence Plaintiffs’ action must be 

dismissed. 

ii. The United States has strong interests in Plaintiffs’ action that 
are adverse to those of Plaintiffs. 

 Another factor that courts have found critical in determining whether the United 

States is an indispensable party in an action brought by Indian plaintiffs to resolve a 

dispute over Indian lands is whether the United States’ interests are aligned with those 

of the plaintiffs.  In Navajo Tribe and Spirit Lake Tribe v. North Dakota, 262 F.3d 732 

(8th Cir. 2001), Indian plaintiffs brought suit to quiet title in themselves to lands to which 

the United States claimed title.  Both courts found the United States to be an 

indispensable party primarily because of the adversity of the United States’ interests to 

those of plaintiffs.  The Navajo Tribe court placed great weight on the fact that the tribe’s 

claims were not aligned with the interests of the United States, noting that “[u]nlike in 
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the [distinguished] cases, the United States and the Tribe are not aligned together 

against the countervailing interests of third parties.”  Navajo Tribe, 809 F.2d at 1473.  

The court in Spirit Lake Tribe stated that its rationale for finding the United States to be 

indispensable was that “when the government claims an interest in land that squarely 

conflicts with the interest of a Tribe, the government’s presence in litigation is nearly 

always required to assure the proper and effective adjudication of the dispute.”  Spirit 

Lake Tribe, 262 F.3d at 747. 

 As in Navajo Tribe and Spirit Lake Tribe, the adversity of Plaintiffs’ interests to 

those of the United States warrants finding the United States to be indispensable under 

Rule 19(b).  Plaintiffs’ action is in direct opposition to the United States’ interests in 

upholding the validity of its agency’s decisions and, specifically, the exercise of power it 

has expressly retained over Indian lands.  See 25 U.S.C. § 323-28; 25 C.F.R. pt. 169.  It 

also directly opposes the United States’ interest in preserving the benefits provided by 

Defendants’ project to the Tribe, tribal members, and the general public.  These strong 

interests of the United States would be unquestionably prejudiced by a judgment for 

Plaintiffs in the United States’ absence.  Therefore, Plaintiffs’ action must be dismissed 

for failure to join the United States as an indispensable party under Rule 19(b). 

iii. Plaintiffs seek to cancel an instrument or conveyance of the 
United States. 

 Finally, Plaintiffs’ action seeks to void the right-of-way easement granted to 

CPEC by the United States.  “It is a fundamental principle of the law that an instrument 

may not be cancelled by a Court unless the parties to the instrument are before the 

Court.” Navajo Tribe of Indians v. New Mexico, 809 F.2d 1455, 1472 (10th Cir. 1987) 

(quoting Tewa Tesuque v. Morton, 360 F. Supp. 452 (D.N.M. 1973)).  “Moreover, ‘as a 
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matter of federal law, it is well established that the validity of a deed or patent from the 

federal government may not be questioned in a suit brought by a third party against the 

grantee or patentee.’”  Id. at 1472 (quoting Raypath, Inc. v. City of Anchorage, 544 F.2d 

1019, 1021 (9th Cir. 1977)).  The United States has a fundamental legal right to not 

have its instruments of conveyance voided in an action to which it has not been made a 

party.   Since the United States cannot be made a party, Plaintiffs’ action must be 

dismissed. 

2. CPEC has a strong interest in avoiding multiple litigation, 
inconsistent relief, and responsibility for liability due to 
alleged illegal acts by the United States. 

 As discussed in section A, supra, all of Plaintiffs’ claims rely completely on 

allegations that the permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the BIA were 

illegal.  If, for the sake of argument, the United States were not joined to the instant 

action and Plaintiffs prevailed on their claims based on the alleged illegality of the BIA 

permissions and easements, CPEC would be in a position to seek redress against the 

United States for breach of contract, breach of warranty of title, Administrative 

Procedure Act (“APA”), and other claims.  Since the United States would not be bound 

by a judgment in Plaintiffs’ action in its absence, such litigation would create the 

possibility of inconsistent relief.  Additionally, it would be grossly inequitable for CPEC to 

bear responsibility, for liability that is completely attributable to the allegedly illegal 

actions of the BIA.  These interests of Defendants in avoiding multiple litigation, 

inconsistent relief, and responsibility for liability attributable to the actions of the BIA 

weigh strongly in favor of finding the United States to be an indispensable party under 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 19(b), in whose absence Plaintiffs’ action should be dismissed. 
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3. The courts and public have an interest in a complete, 
consistent, and efficient settlement of the controversy. 

 An additional reason for finding the United States to be an indispensable party is 

that hearing Plaintiffs’ action in the absence of the United States would likely result in an 

incomplete, inefficient, and possibly inconsistent resolution of the underlying 

controversy.  As discussed above (section A, supra) all of Plaintiffs’ claims rely 

completely on allegations that the permissions and easements granted to CPEC by the 

BIA were illegal.  Thus, trying Plaintiffs’ claims in the absence of the United States—

who would not be bound by a decision thereby—would make it likely that the losing 

party would attempt to relitigate those issues, whether by APA, breach of warranty, 

contract, or fiduciary duty, or other claims versus the United States.  Not only would 

such relitigation be duplicative and inefficient, it would create the possibility of 

inconsistent results.  Thus, these interests further warrant dismissal of Plaintiffs’ action 

for failure to join the United States as an indispensable party under Rule 19(b). 

4. Plaintiffs’ interest in maintaining their action in the current 
forum is greatly outweighed by the other Provident 
Tradesmens interests. 

 In almost every case involving a dispute over interests in Indian lands, the 

interest of plaintiffs in maintaining their action in their chosen forum is cited as a reason 

in favor of not finding the United States to be indispensable.  See, e.g., Sokaogon 

Chippewa Community v. State of Wis., 879 F.2d 300, 304 (7th Cir. 1989); In re Schugg, 

384 B.R. 263, 276 ¶13 (D. Ariz. 2008).  However, this factor is often outweighed by the 

other Provident Tradesmens interests, even when no other forum is available.  See, 

e.g., Nichols, 809 F.2d at 1332-34 (8th Cir. 1987); Navajo Tribe v. New Mexico, 809 

F.2d at 1473; Paiute-Shoshone Indians, 2007 WL 521403, at *23-24.  The import of 
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Plaintiffs’ potential lack of an alternative forum is considerably reduced in the instant 

case, where Plaintiffs could have appealed the BIA decisions to grant the relevant 

permissions and easements before the BIA itself, see 25 C.F.R. pt. 2 & 

§§ 2.8(a), 169.2(b), as opposed to bringing a host of derivative claims in federal court—

several of which carry the possibility of treble damages, perhaps explaining their 

attractiveness to Plaintiffs, and all of which rely completely on the alleged illegality of the 

BIA’s actions.  In light of these considerations, the interests of the United States, 

Defendants, the Court, and the public in this case greatly outweigh those of Plaintiffs in 

this forum and require dismissal of Plaintiffs’ action under Rule 19(b). 

 The United States has very strong interests in (1) answering Plaintiffs’ challenge 

to the legal exercise of power over Indian lands that it has expressly retained in 25 

U.S.C. § 323-28 and 25 C.F.R. pt. 169, (2) upholding the validity of its agency’s 

determinations in general, and (3) preserving the benefits provided by CPEC’s electric 

transmission project to the Tribe, tribal members, and the general public.  In particular, 

in cases involving disputes over Indian lands in which plaintiffs’ claims are based on 

allegations of illegality by the United States, courts have uniformly found the United 

States to be an indispensable party. 

 In addition, CPEC, the courts, and the public have substantial interests in 

avoiding the inefficiency and possible inconsistency that would likely occur due to 

multiple litigation if Plaintiffs’ action were to proceed in the United States’ absence.  

These interests greatly outweigh those of Plaintiffs in the forum, especially where 

Plaintiffs had an alternative administrative forum in which to address their grievances, 

see 25 C.F.R. pt. 2 & §§ 2.8(a), 169.2(b), but did not make use of it.  For these and the 
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other reasons discussed herein, Plaintiffs’ action should be dismissed for failure to join 

the United States as an indispensable party under Fed. R. Civ. P. 19. 

II. PLAINTIFFS HOULE’S ACTION SHOULD BE DISMISSED AS THEY HAVE 
ALREADY LITIGATED THEIR CLAIMS AND ACCEPTED PAYMENT FROM 
CPEC FOR THE PLACEMENT OF THE TRANSMISSION LINE. 

 
Plaintiffs Houle already litigated the same claims and damages in the Turtle 

Mountain Tribal Court.  The Houles should not get a second bite at the apple in federal 

court.  Furthermore, the Houles have received and accepted payment from CPEC 

regarding the damages caused by the placement of the transmission line. 

A. Res Judicata and Collateral Estoppel Prevent the Houles from 
Proceeding with this Claim. 

 
Res judicata and collateral estoppel prevent parties from relitigating claims and 

issues that have already been raised, or could have been raised in other actions.  Res 

judicata and collateral estoppel “promote the finality of judgments, which increases 

certainty, avoids multiple litigation, wasteful delay and expense, and ultimately 

conserves judicial resources.”  Riverwood Commercial Park, L.L.C. v. Standard Oil Co., 

Inc., 2007 ND 36, ¶13, 729 N.W.2d 101. 

Res judicata (claim preclusion) prevents a party from relitigating “claims that 

were raised, or could have been raised, in prior actions between the same parties or 

their privies.”  Hager v. City of Devils Lake, 2009 ND 180, ¶ 10, 773 N.W.2d 420 (citing 

Riverwood Commercial Park, L.L.C. v. Standard Oil Co., Inc., 2007 ND 36, ¶ 13, 729 

N.W.2d 101).  Where there is an existing judgment which conclusively resolves claims 

between the parties, including claims that could have been raised and resolved, res 

judicata applies.  Id.  It applies even if later claims are based upon on different legal 

theories. Id.  Where there is an alleged permanent nuisance and trespass, when the 
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plaintiff sues on the first occurrence of the nuisance or trespass, res judicata prevents a 

second suit.  Id., ¶ 20.  Res judicata  can prevent claims, even if they were not actually 

litigated in the prior action.  Riverwood, 2007 ND 36, ¶ 14. 

Collateral estoppel (issue preclusion) prevents parties from relitigating issues in a 

subsequent action based on different claims which were “necessarily litigated, or by 

logical and necessary implication must have been litigated, and decided in the prior 

action.”  Hager, 2009 ND 180, ¶ 10.  Collateral estoppel prevents litigation of issues that 

were actually litigated and necessary to the prior action, even if the issues in the 

subsequent action are different “claims.”  Riverwood, 2007 ND 36, ¶ 14. 

In this case, the Houles litigated this matter in the Turtle Mountain Tribal Court.  

(Doc. No. 81-6 and 81-7.)  The Houles claimed that CPEC was trespassing, was paying 

tribal members less than those paid off-the-reservation, the BIA did not have the 

authority to grant an easement or a permit to occupy the right-of-way, and moved for an 

injunction to prevent the construction of the transmission line.  (Doc. No. 81-6.)   

The BIA has a 75 feet road right-of-way.  (Doc. No. 81-1.)  These easements 

were granted in 1975 and 1978.  (Id.)  The Plaintiffs purchased the trust land subject to 

these easements in 2002.  (Doc. No. 81-2.)  CPEC’s 69 kV single pole transmission line 

is 5 feet from the west edge and within the Bureau of Indian Affairs (“BIA”) highway-

right-of way next to BIA Road No. 5.  BIA Road No. 5 was built with federal money.  

CPEC has all the necessary paperwork from the BIA and has been issued a “Permit to 

Occupy Right-of-Way” from the BIA, authorizing them to place the 69 kV single pole 

transmission line in the BIA right-of-way.  (Doc. No. 81-3.)   
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CPEC cut-back brush and trees to allow for the placement of the 69 kV single 

pole transmission line with Plaintiffs permission.  (Doc. No. 81-4.)  Plaintiffs also gave 

CPEC permission to survey the property.  (Doc. No. 81-5.) 

On May 28, 2008, the Houles served a “Motion for Declaration, Reparative 

Injunction and TRO” on CPEC when it began to set poles in the BIA road right-of-way.  

(Doc. 81-6.)  CPEC immediately stopped work on the project on the Houle property.  

(Doc. 81-10, p. 108, ll. 1-9.)  An injunction hearing was held July 10, 2008. After the 

hearing, he Court ordered as follows: 

“1. THAT, the Plaintiffs request for reparative injunction is hereby granted in-
part. 

2. THAT, the appraisal and the legal description of the Petitioners land was 
29.7 acres, with the amount of $14,850 placed on the value of the land in 
whole parcel which equals $500 per acre. 

3. THAT, allowance be allowed to Central Power Electric Cooperative to 
continue with the 69KV project.  However, this Court finds that the BIA 
easement is 50 ft and the remaining 25ft of the easement is within the 
Houle’s restricted land. 

4. THAT, the Respondents must compensate the Plaintiff’s for the remainder 
of the 25 ft at $544.50 per acre.  1 acre = 10890 feet or 43560 square feet, 
10890/500=21.78, 21.78x25=544.50 

5. THAT, the Plaintiff’s advocate fee of $650.00 will be awarded to the 
Plaintiff’s in addition to $3,160 for poles and guy wires. 

6. THAT, mitigation is hereby ordered between the parties to resolve the 
remainder of the damages sustained during tree removal, fencing 
damages, and any other damages that may arise out of the continuation of 
the 69KV project.” 

 
(Doc. No. 81-7.) 

 The Houles admit they litigated this matter.  (See Doc. No. 81-9, Ex., , p. 37, ll. 

10-13.)  The Houles had every opportunity to appeal this matter but chose not to.  (See 

Doc. No. 81-10, Ex. , p. 46, ll. 19-21.)  The Houles did not ask the Turtle Mountain Tribal 

Court to reconsider its decision.  (Id., p. 46, ll. 12-15.)  The Houles did not bring further 

motions for further compensation under the order issued by the Turtle Mountain Tribal 
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Court.  (Id., p. 47, ll. 20-22.)  The Houles did not bring any other action against the 

Turtle Mountain Tribal Court for issuing the decision.  (Id., p. 162, ll. 6-19.)  The time for 

the Houles to appeal the Tribal Court decision has long passed as they only had 30 

days to file their notice of appeal.  TMTC 2.1306.  The Houles should not be allowed to 

now come to federal court to get relief. 

The claims brought by the Houle in this matter were, or should have been raised, 

in the Turtle Mountain Tribal Court action.  The Turtle Mountain Tribal Court issued a 

judgment that the Houles chose not to appeal.  The Houles now bring the federal action. 

It does not matter that the Houles label CPEC’s conduct under different legal theories in 

this Court.  Res judicata prevents the Houles from proceeding in this matter.  Hager, 

2009 ND 180 ¶ 13. Since the Houles sued CPEC for it actions already, this action must 

dismissed.  Id., ¶ 20.   

The Houles actually litigated the issues of trespass, treating individuals off the 

reservation more fairly, and damages in the Turtle Mountain Tribal Court action.  

Collateral estoppel prevents the Houles from relitigating these issues because the 

issues in this case were actually litigated in the prior action.  Riverwood, 2007 ND 36, ¶ 

14.  The Houles cannot relitigate these issues even though they now state them in this 

Court as different “claims.”  Id. 

As the Court can see, the Houles have already litigated this matter and their 

claims should be dismissed with prejudice. 

B. The Houles Accepted Payment Regarding Damages Resulting from 
the Placement of the Transmission Line. 

 
CPEC paid, and the Houles accepted payments in accordance with the Turtle 

Mountain Tribal Court Order.  CPEC asserted in its Answer the defense of accord and 
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satisfaction.  (Central Power Electric Cooperative, Inc.’s Answer, Doc. No. 7, ¶ XXXI.)  

Accord is “an agreement to accept in extinction of an obligation something different from 

or less than that to which the person agreeing to accept is entitled.”  N.D.CENT.CODE § 

9-13-04.  Satisfaction is “acceptance by the creditor of the consideration of an accord 

extinguishes the obligation.” N.D.CENT.CODE § 9-13-05. 

After the order was issued, CPEC issued two checks to the Houles.  (Doc. No. 

81-8.)  Check Number 94011 was in the amount of $3,160 for poles and guy wires in 

compliance with paragraph 5 of the Tribal Court’s order.  (Id.)  Check Number 94012 

was in the amount of $1,194.50 for a 25 foot easement ($544.50) and advocate fees 

($650), in compliance with paragraphs 4 and 5.  (Id.) These checks were cashed on 

July 24, 2008.  (Id.) 

Since the Court ordered that CPEC could continue with the project, the 69 kV 

transmission line was placed 5 feet from the west edge and within the Bureau of Indian 

Affairs (“BIA”) highway-right-of way next to BIA Road No. 5.  CPEC did disturb a fence 

line but the Houles were paid $5000 for the fence repair (check number 9448) on 

September 4, 2008 in accordance with paragraph 6 of the Turtle Mountain Tribal Court 

order.  (Doc. No. 81-8.)  This check was cashed on September 10, 2008.  (Id.)  The 

Houles accepted the checks from CPEC in accordance with the Turtle Mountain Tribal 

Court.  (Doc. No. 81-10, pp. 49-50.)  Since the Houles accepted the checks in 

satisfaction of the Turtle Mountain Tribal Court judgment for the trespass, easement, 

and advocate fees, they cannot now come to federal court to receive additional payment 

for those issues.  As such, the Houles’ claims should be dismissed with prejudice. 
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III. PLAINTIFFS LONGIE HAVE RECEIVED PAYMENT AND AN EASEMENT HAS 
BEEN ISSUED BY THE BIA FOR THEIR PROPERTY. 

 
 Plaintiffs Howard Longie and Duane Longie, Jr. (hereinafter “Longie”) signed 

“Consent of Owners to Grant Right-of-Way.”  (Ex. 5) and “Statement of Landowners to 

Accompany Application or Permission to Make Survey” (Ex. 6) for Allotment 2280-H.  

Payment was made to the BIA for this allotment.  An easement was granted by the BIA 

on May 29, 2009 for this parcel, along with other parcels of property.  (Ex. 1.)  Longie 

alleges that they did not receive payment as promised.  (Am. Compl., Doc. No. 51, ¶¶ 3, 

60.)  No objection to or rejection of payment was received by CPEC.  Since payment 

has been made and an easement issued, with Longie’s consent, this action should be 

dismissed.     

CONCLUSION 

 Plaintiffs’ action should be dismissed for failure to join the United States as an 

indispensable party under Fed. R. Civ. P. 19.  Plaintiffs Houle’s claims should be 

dismissed under the theory of res judicata, collateral estoppel, and accord and 

satisfaction. Plaintiffs Longie have received payment and thus their claim has been 

resolved. 
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